1979

Johnson Tire Service Inc. v. Thorn, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff-seller to collect the purchase price of large-equipment tires, interest thereon, and attorneys' fees from the defendant-buyer who failed to make timely payment thereof on its open account with the plaintiff.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, the Honorable David Sam presiding, granted partial summary judgment to the plaintiff wherein the Court awarded the principal purchase price and interest thereon to the plaintiff. The Court also granted partial summary judgment to the defendant wherein the Court denied the plaintiff's claim for attorneys' fees.

RELIEF SOUGHT IN THE PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL

The plaintiff seeks reversal of summary judgment granted the defendant denying the plaintiff's claim for attorneys' fees, judgment for cost in the Court below and on appeal, and, if necessary, remand for the determination of the proper amount of such fees and costs.

THE FACTS OF THE CASE

1. The plaintiff, Johnson Tire Service, Inc., is a merchant which sells tires and related products. The defendant, Thorn, Inc., is a ready-mix concrete merchant which renders products and services relating to the construction industry. Since the late 1960s, the plaintiff has sold tires, as well as related products and services, to the defendant on an open

account.

2. During the time in which the parties have been doing business with one another, the defendant customarily ordered the goods on an authorized purchase order which frequently did not contain any terms except a description of the goods. Johnson Tire, the plaintiff, acknowledged and accepted the buyer's offer to purchase by sending an invoice which, if signed by an employee of the defendant, was followed by delivery of the tires ordered.

3. In approximately 1973, the plaintiff modified its invoices to reflect the exact terms and conditions of the sales agreement. Since that time all invoices sent to the defendant and other purchasers contained the following legend:

TITLE REMAINS WITH SELLER UNTIL PAID. BUYER PROMISES TO PAY ACCOUNT AT SPRINGVILLE, UTAH. FINANCE CHARGE AT ANNUAL PERCENTAGE RATE OF 18 PERCENT CHARGED ON ANY AMOUNT UNPAID AFTER 30 DAYS FROM DATE HEREOF. BUYER AGREES TO PAY COSTS OF COLLECTION, INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEY FEES, WITH OR WITHOUT SUIT.

4. At the beginning of 1978, the defendant's account with the plaintiff showed an unpaid balance of \$567.70. As additional purchases were made during the year, the unpaid balance gradually increased.

5. In May of 1978, with an unpaid balance of \$1,406.34 in its account with the plaintiff, the defendant ordered four heavy-duty Michelin equipment tires (customarily used on front-end loaders) at a cost of \$6,020.79, including taxes.

6. The plaintiff sent regular monthly statements to the defendant, but received only partial payments.

7. Representatives of the plaintiff met with a representative of the defendant, Jerry Thorn, in August, 1978 and requested that the ac-

count be paid in full. Mr. Thorn promised to have the account fully paid by October, 1978.

8. During the August, 1978 meeting, Mr. Thorn objected to the rate of interest or service charge added to its account, but no agreement was made to change that rate.

9. During the course of dealings between the parties, the plaintiff has consistently applied the defendant's payments first against accrued service charges ("interest") and then against principal. Unpaid service charges have been added to principal for the computation of subsequent service charges.

10. The defendant's open account with the plaintiff, as of the time of the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment (February 10, 1979), reflected an unpaid balance of \$567.70 for 1977, purchases of \$7,240.44, service charges ("interest") of \$950.21, and total payments or credits of \$1,590.26, leaving an unpaid balance of \$7,168.09. The last payment prior to that time was received on December 22, 1978.

11. In January of 1979, the plaintiff referred the defendant's account to its attorney for collection for a contingent fee of 25% of all amounts collected if suit were required. The defendant failed to respond to demands by the plaintiff and by plaintiff's attorney, and suit was commenced in the Fourth Judicial District Court in Utah County.

12. At all times pertinent herein, the defendant, by and through its agents, were aware of the content of the plaintiff's invoices. The provisions on the bottom of the plaintiff's invoices were discussed with Jerry Thorn in his office at Thorn, Inc. Mr. Thorn, who represented himself as having powers to negotiate in behalf of the defendant and who is

an attorney, was well aware that such terms were part of the bargain with the plaintiff. Objection to those terms was not made within a reasonable time.

13. On all forms used by the plaintiff, the provisions regarding the service charge were not in "fine print", but rather in extra bold lettering showing the annual percentage rate. The bold lettering would attract a merchant's attention to the provisions for the interest charges and the costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys' fees.

14. The terms of credit in the plaintiff's invoices were standard and are typically used by other merchants in this state, including the defendant.

15. The plaintiff's partial summary judgment for principal and interest was satisfied and all garnishments therefor were released upon receipt of payment from the defendant in the amount of \$7,799.10 on July 30, 1979. [Substantiated by the District Court file.]

16. On the principal sale of \$6,020.79, the plaintiff was to have made some \$250 profit. While it recovered the principal, the plaintiff had attorneys' fees of some \$1,950 which, although reasonable, put the non-breaching plaintiff-seller in the position of being forced to sell goods at a loss because of the defendant-buyer's delinquency in making payment. [Not in the record, but added to focus the plaintiff's arguments.]

SUBSTANTIATION FROM RECORD: Unless otherwise indicated, the facts herein cited are substantiated principally from the plaintiffs Statement of Facts in support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and supplemented by the Affidavit submitted therewith and the plaintiff's

Reply Statement which were adopted by the court in its findings of fact.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT ONE: BINDING ADDITIONAL TERMS. Since both the plaintiff and the defendant are merchants, the provision in the plaintiffs invoices regarding attorneys' fees established a contractual obligation on the defendant to pay the plaintiff's attorneys' fees under the provisions of § 70A-2-207 of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code (cited "Utah UCC").

POINT TWO: INCIDENTAL DAMAGES. The District Court erred in failing to award its attorneys' fees as "incidental damages" [to the plaintiff - seller] resulting from the defendant - buyer's breach under the provisions of § 70A-2-710 of the Utah UCC.

POINT THREE: COURSE OF DEALING. The lower Court should have ruled that the parties course of dealings established a contractual obligation on the defendant to pay the plaintiffs' attorneys' fees under the provisions of §§ 70A-2-208 and 70A-2-202 of the Utah UCC.

POINT FOUR: COMMON LAW. The lower court improperly ruled that the defendant was not bound to pay the plaintiff's attorneys' fees on common principles and improperly relied on inappropriate precedent in its decision.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE: BINDING ADDITIONAL TERMS.

A. General Rule. For the creation of a binding sales contract, Chapter 2 of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code [§§ 70A-2-101 et seq., hereinafter cited as "Utah UCC"] does not require that the acceptance of an offer be limited to the exact terms of the offer. Section 70A-2-207 of the Utah UCC provides:

70A-2-207. Additional terms in acceptance or confirmation.

(1) A definite and seasonable expression of acceptance or a written confirmation which is sent within a reasonable time operates as an acceptance even though it states terms additional to or different from those offered or agreed upon, unless acceptance is expressly made conditional on assent to the additional or different terms.

(2) The additional terms are to be construed as proposals for addition to the contract. Between merchants such terms become part of the contract unless:

(a) the offer expressly limits acceptance to the terms of the offer;

(b) they materially alter it; or

(c) notification of objection to them has already been given or is given within a reasonable time after notice of them is received.

(3) Conduct by both parties which recognizes the existence of a contract is sufficient to establish a contract for sale although the writings of the parties do not otherwise establish a contract. In such case the terms of the particular contract consist of those terms on which the writings of the parties agree, together with any supplementary terms incorporated under any other provisions of this act.

The contract involved in this case is for the sale and purchase of goods from one merchant to another, and Chapter 2 of the Utah UCC and those of its provisions specifically applicable to merchants clearly apply.

The defendant's offer to purchase, memorialized in its purchase orders or otherwise, were acknowledged and accepted by the plaintiff's invoices which contained additional terms of credit relating to credit.

service charge ("interest") and costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys' fees. As between these merchants, the terms of credit "become part of the contract" under § 70A-2-207 of the Utah UCC since none of the statutory exceptions exists. There is no statutory requirement that the seller's form of acceptance be signed by the buyer or its authorized representative.

B. No Restricted Offer. The defendant's offer did not expressly limit the plaintiff's acceptance to the terms shown on its purchase order. In fact, the purchase price was not shown on the defendant's purchase orders, but was negotiated and agreed upon otherwise.

C. Material Alteration. Although the statute itself does not delineate what types of terms "materially alter" a contract within the meaning of § 70A-2-207(2)(b), the Official Comments* to § 2-207 of the UCC by the Commissioners on Uniform State Laws contain clear guidelines for its interpretation.

Official Comments 3 and 4 indicate that the test for material alteration is whether the additional provisions would "result in surprise or hardship if incorporated [into the agreement] without express awareness by the other party...." Hence, the lower Court erred in requiring a signature or other evidence of "express awareness."

Official Comment 5 to § 2-207 of the UCC states that "a clause providing for interest on overdue invoices or fixing the seller's

*See Appendix B for the full text.

standard credit terms where they are within the range of trade practice and do not limit any credit bargained for" involves no element of unreasonable surprise and is to be incorporated into the contract between merchants unless timely objection is made.

Subsection (2) of § 70A-2-207 was submitted to the Utah legislature with Official Comments which explained that terms of credit on an invoice would be binding on a merchant-buyer, and the legislature adopted it without modification.

Merchants in this state, including both the plaintiff and the defendant, typically require the payment of the costs of collecting a delinquent account, including reasonable attorneys' fees, as well as credit service charges, as a part of their standard terms of credit. Therefore, the additional terms of credit contained on the plaintiffs invoices are within the range of trade usage and do not cause any "surprise" or "undue hardship" to the defendant (which uses similar terms of credit on its invoices).

c) Timely Objection. The defendant failed to make objection within a reasonable time to the additional terms on the plaintiff's invoices as required by §70A-2-207 (2) (c). Such terms were on the plaintiff's invoices since 1973, and although the defendant had an open account before and after that time, it failed to object to those terms until August, 1978 (except perhaps on specific isolated transactions not related to this case).

d) Earlier Precedent. This Court did not discuss or apply the Utah UCC in either Spanish Fork Packing Company v. House of Fine Meats, Inc., 29 Utah 2d 312, 508 P.2d 1186 (1973) and B & R Supply

Company v. Bringham, 28 Utah 2d 442, 503 P.2d 1216 (1972). They are inappropriate as precedent in this case where the UCC clearly applies and was raised in the lower Court as the plaintiff's chief argument for its claim for attorneys' fees.

This is a case of first impression, apparently for other jurisdictions as well as for Utah. Those two cases, and similar cases in other jurisdictions, are clearly based on common law prior to the Uniform Commercial Code even though they were decided after its adoption. Of course, the Court could not decide in the previous cases an issue which was not raised by the parties.

e) Conclusion. The Court below ruled that the additional terms of credit on the plaintiff's invoices were not binding on the defendant without an authorized signature or other evidence of consent. The Utah UCC mandates that such terms are binding as between merchants. Since the offer was not restricted to its terms, since there is no material alteration of the agreement causing surprise or undue hardship to the defendant, and since the defendant failed to object until after five years of receiving the plaintiff's invoices, none of the exceptions to § 70A-2-207 of the Utah UCC applies.

The current statutory provisions of the Utah UCC were adopted by the legislature to supersede prior statutory and case law. The law does not require actual consent but incorporates into contracts "commercial understandings" and the expectations of modern merchants. [See Official Comment 2 to § 2-207 of the UCC.] The defendant is legally and contractually obligated to pay the plaintiff's attorneys' fees.

POINT TWO: INCIDENTAL DAMAGES

A. General Rule. The Official Comment* to § 2-710 of the UCC indicates that a buyer is liable to the seller for "all commercially reasonable expenditures made by the seller" as a result of the buyer's breach. The clear intent of the law is to make the non-breaching party whole, not to merely compensate for the principal purchase price.

B. Plaintiff's Argument. The plaintiff's expenditure of attorneys' fees is a "commercial reasonable" expense which resulted directly from the defendant's refusal to make payment in full on its account.

If attorneys' fees are not awarded as valid incidental damages, merchants (such as the plaintiff) will often be forced by delinquent buyers (such as the defendant) to sell at a loss because collection expenses can easily consume and exceed the profit and even the price on the goods sold.

Although awarding attorneys' fees as incidental damages is inconsistent with the pre-UCC application of contract law, the Utah legislature's clear intent under § 70A-2-710 was to make a non-breaching seller whole and to make a breaching buyer fully responsible for all expenses reasonably incurred because of its breach.

*See Appendix B for the full text.

POINT THREE: COURSE OF DEALINGS

A. General Rule. As provided in §§ 70A-2-202. (a) and 70A-2-208 of the Utah UCC, the acquiescence of a party may be equivalent to assent under Utah contract law. Because the defendant failed to object for several years to the crediting of its payments first to current interest and then to unpaid principal (including past interest charges), the District Court awarded the plaintiff interest, before and after judgment, at the rate shown on the plaintiff's invoices and monthly statement.

"Course of dealings" is analogous to estoppel, and differs only in that one party relies on the silent acquiescence of the other, rather than on explicit representations. For many years, the plaintiff in this case sold goods and extended credit to the defendant in reliance on the defendant's acquiescence to the standard terms of credit contained in the plaintiff's invoices.

The Utah UCC was adopted to relax the requirements for a fair and enforceable contract. The UCC does not require a signed contract with each purchase. Even at common law, printed conditions on sales slips were regarded as part of the contract where those conditions were expressly made a part thereof or they were so set forth and were so related to the writing and the subject matter of the agreement as to manifest to the other party an intent that they were to be obligatory on him. 77 C.J.S., Sales, § 71.

B. Application to This Case. The defendant accepted goods and credit for years knowing of the plaintiff's terms therefor.

[See §§ 1 and 2 of the plaintiff's Reply Statement of Points and Authorities dated April 5, 1979.] The defendant's failure to object to those terms of credit constitutes acquiescence to those terms.

The lower Court awarded interest to the plaintiff because of the defendant's acquiescence in the plaintiff's billing practice, including the computation of interest. It is unfair to allow the defendant to now claim that it never acquiesced to pay cost of collection, including reasonable attorneys' fees where the other terms of credit had been honored. To hold otherwise would allow long-term merchant buyers to disregard credit terms at will.

In short, several years of dealings one with another made both parties aware of unwritten but valid expectations which are enforceable under §§ 70A-2-202(b) and 70A-2-208 of the Utah UCC.

POINT FOUR: COMMON LAW

A. Prior Cases--Factual Distinctions. The defendant and the District Court relied upon the rulings of this Court in two prior cases, Spanish Fork Packing Company v. House of Fine Meats, Inc., 29 Utah 2d 312, 508 P.2d 1186 (1973) and B & R Supply Company v. Bringham, 28 Utah 2d 442, 503 P.2d 1216 (1972).

In the B & R Supply case the Court ruled that where the buyer's attention was never called to the seller's terms of credit printed in "small inconspicuous print" on the seller's invoices, no contract was created for the payment of attorneys' fees. In the Spanish Fork Packing case the Court ruled that where the buyer had never read the terms of credit on a seller's invoices, there was no "meeting of the minds" and no enforceable contract for attorneys' fees.

In the present case, however, the defendant-buyer was made aware of the terms of credit contained on the plaintiff-seller's invoices and never denied knowledge thereof. In the plaintiff's Reply Statement of Points and Authorities, the plaintiff clearly alleged that Jerry Thorn, an agent for the defendant and an attorney, discussed with representatives of the plaintiff the provisions at the bottom of the sales slip and that Mr. Thorn was made aware that attorneys' fees were part of the contract between the parties. Such allegations were never controverted and were adopted by the District Court in its Findings of Fact [q.v.].

B. Inapposite Precedent. The law applied in the B & R Supply and Spanish Fork Packing cases is inconsistent with the common law and undermines the purpose of contract law.

The dissenting justice in the Spanish Fork Packing case, Justice Henriod, described that case as being one:

. . . where actually there is no meeting of the minds, but where there is a manifestation of mutual assent which appears to create consensual liability by virtue of a sort of estoppel that says one is bound if ostensibly he represents something without affirmatively denying liability therefor,--that he will respond *ex contractu*, if one relies on his representations, either by express authority or by implication. Spanish Fork Packing, 508 P.2d at 1188 (dissent).

The justice went on to say:

It is somewhat ridiculous to conclude that the purchaser-defendant's officials did not read the so-called "fine print" at the very head of the invoice,--some of which was not as "fine" as asserted. It is also amazing to this writer that disclaiming liability for the attorney's fee provision because nobody in authority bothered to read it or question its obvious implications over a two-year period falls squarely within the authorities cited in *Slim Olson v. Winegar*, 122 Utah 80, 246 P.2d 608 (1952)] based on acquiescence in the terms of an agreement by silence. 508 P.2d at 1188 and 1189 (dissent).

The Spanish Fork Packing and B & R Supply cases are inconsistent with common-law contract principles, trade usage, and the intent of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code. If those cases are upheld and a similar decision is reached in this case, the following legal advice will be more frequently given (and followed) in Utah:

[T]he way to avoid attorney's fees or any other provision in fine print, simply is to ignore it, permit your employees to sign delivery invoices on which are terms, that if undesirable, could be rejected, say you authorized them to sign for the delivery only but not for anything appearing on the invoices, such as weight, price, quality and the like, and you will not be responsible for any of those items, and you then can put the seller to proof dehors the invoice itself, and renege on even the delivery of goods itself by saying, for example, that your employee was not authorized to establish proof of delivery because that was reserved to the President of the corporation, who knew and saw nothing about the invoice, what was on it, or what his employee's signature looked like. 508 P.2d at 1189 (dissent).

In other words, those cases place an unconscionable burden on a sel-

ler and give the buyer the benefit of a bargain without obliging him to honor it.

CONCLUSION

A. Binding Additional Terms: The lower Court improperly disregarded § 70A-2-207 of the Utah UCC both as to interest and attorneys' fees. Since the record indicates that there was no material alteration of the parties' agreement and that the defendant failed to object to the additional terms within a reasonable time, the terms of credit in the plaintiff's invoices are a binding part of the sales agreement between the parties.

B. Incidental Damages: The provisions of § 70A-2-710 require that the plaintiff be made whole, and therefore the plaintiff should be reimbursed for all costs incurred because of the defendant's breach of its promise to pay on time, including reasonable attorneys' fees.

C. Course of Dealing: The parties' dealings with each other established mutual expectations which the defendant should be obligated to follow and "estopped" from denying under the provisions of §§ 70A-2-208 and 70A-2-202 of the Utah UCC.

D. Common Law: The lower court improperly relied on the Spanish Fork Packing and B & R Supply cases where the facts in the present case distinguish it from those previous cases, and where the law applied in those cases is inconsistent with fairness, trade usage, and the common-law principle of estoppel.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX "A"	Specific Statutory Provisions
APPENDIX "B"	Official Comment to the UCC by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws

APPENDIX "A"

70A-2-202. Final written expression—Parol or extrinsic evidence.—Terms with respect to which the confirmatory memoranda of the parties agree or which are otherwise set forth in a writing intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are included therein may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior agreement or of a contemporaneous oral agreement but may be explained or supplemented

- (a) by course of dealing or usage of trade (section 70A-1-205) or by course of performance (section 70A-2-208); and
- (b) by evidence of consistent additional terms unless the court finds the writing to have been intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement.