1980

Johnson Tire Service Inc. v. Thorn, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PROCEDURALLY, JOHNSON CANNOT STIPULATE TO THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT THEN SEEK ON APPEAL TO REVERSE THE ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

From a procedural standpoint, Johnson's appeal is defective as a matter of law and subject to dismissal on motion. It is undisputed that the lower court determined that there remained an issue of material fact with respect to whether the signature of Byron Hobbs bound Thorn for payment of attorneys fees. While Thorn does not necessarily agree with the Court's initial finding, it is clear that neither party may appeal from the denial of a motion for summary judgment. For that reason, counsel for Johnson decided, fatally, to stipulate that the trial court was incorrect in holding that there remained an issue of material fact with respect to the award of attorneys fees and that the Court could enter judgment as a matter of law in favor of Thorn on that issue. Now Johnson seeks in this appeal to reverse the stipulated entry of summary judgment. Thorn respectfully submits that procedurally, Johnson cannot stipulate to the entry of summary judgment on an issue which the Court initially found to be an issue of material fact then seek on appeal to reverse the entry of summary judgment.

POINT II

ATTORNEYS FEES ARE NOT A PROPER ELEMENT OF "SELLERS INCIDENTAL DAMAGES" UNDER §70A-2-710 OF THE UTAH UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE.

In 2 Anderson, Uniform Commercial Code, §§2-710:3 and 2-710:4, the following statements are found:

"It is also to be noted that Section 2-710 relates only to incidental damages. It does not extend the consequential damages, and, accordingly, the recoverability of such damages, if recoverable at all, is governed by the principles of prior law¹." Footnote 1 states:

"It is to be noted that attorney's fees may not be recovered as consequential damages.

Quattlebaum v. Schutt, 27 AGRIC DEPT 242."

2 Anderson Uniform Commercial Code, Sales, §§2-710:3 and 2-710:4 at page 407.

In Florida National Bank vs. Alfred and Ann

Goldstein Foundation, Inc., 327 So.2d 110 (Fla. 1976), the

Court stated:

"The right to recover attorneys' fees as part of costs did not exist at common law. (Dodomo v. Emanuel, Sup. Ct. Fla. 1953, 91 So.2d 653) Attorneys' fees may not be taxed as costs unless provided for by statute or contract. (Shavers v. Duval County, Sup.Ct.Fla. 1953, 63 So.2d 684) The award for attorneys' fees being in derogation of the common law, any statute providing for an award thereof must be strictly construed. (Great American Indemnity Company v. Williams, Sup.Ct.Fla. 1953, 85 So.2d 619; Gullette v. Ochoa, Fla.App.1st, 1953, 194 So.2d 799) However, in appropriate cases attorneys' fees may constitute an element of recoverable damages. (Glusman v. Lieberman, Fla.App.4th, 1973, 285 So.2d 29, and cases therein cited.)

Construing F.S. 675.115 and F.S. 672.710 in the light of the facts of this case and in the light of F.S. 671.103 and F.S. 671.106(1) we hold that those statutes were not intended to

afford a vehicle for the award of attorneys' fees either as costs nor as "commercially reasonable charges, expenses or commissions." (See Neri v. Retail Marine Corporation, 30 N.Y.2d 393, 334, N.Y.S.2d 165, 285 N.E.2d 311)." (Emphasis added)

In Bossier Bank & Trust Company vs. Union Planters National Bank of Memphis, 550 F.2d 1077 (6th Cir. 1977), the Court construed §2-710 of the Tennessee Uniform Commercial Code as not authorizing a break with the traditional American rule concerning the award of attorneys fees with damages. The Court stated:

"T.C.A. 47-5-115 says that when an issuer wrongfully dishonors a letter of credit the beneficiary may recover "the face amount of the draft or demand together with incidental damages under § 47-2-710 on seller's incidental damages and interest but less than any amount realized by resale or other use or disposition of the subject matter of the transaction". T.C.A. 47-2-710 provides the following:

Sellers incidental damages. --Incidental damages to an aggrieved seller include any commercially reasonable charges, expenses or commissions incurred in stopping delivery, in the transportation, care and custody of goods after the buyer's breach, in connection with return or resale of the goods or otherwise resulting from the breach. (sic)

The official comment to 47-2-710 says this:

Purposes: To authorize reimbursement of the seller for expenses reasonably incurred by him as a result of the buyer's breach. The section sets forth the principal normal and necessary additional elements of damage flowing from the breach but intends to allow all commercial reasonable expenditures made by the seller. (sic)

Nowhere in either of these statutes are attorneys' fees specifically mentioned. I cannot read T.C.A. 47-2-710 as authorizing a break with the traditional American rule concerning the award of attorneys' fees as damages. Had the drafters of the Uniform Commercial Code intended attorneys' fees to be included as incidental damages, they could easily have mentioned them--and no doubt would have, since the exclusion of attorneys' fees is such a well known exception to the general rule of damages.

In Point 1 of its brief and the argument thereunder, Johnson asserts that notwithstanding the language found in Spanish Fork Packing Company vs. House of Fine Meats, Inc., 29 Utah 2d 312, 508 P.2d 1186 (1973), and having stipulated that Byron Hobbs ". . . was found not to be an agent of the Defendant (Thorn). . . ." (R. 35), this Court should construe §§70A-2-207 and 70A-2-710 of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code as authorizing the award of attorneys fees under the facts of the instant case. In the Spanish Fork Packing case, supra, plaintiff sued defendant to recover an amount owed on an open account for the purchase of meat and meat products. Plaintiff asserted in its pleadings that the purchases were evidenced by seven invoices attached to the complaint; that the invoices provided that plaintiff was entitled to a reasonable attorneys fee, and that a reasonable fee was \$1,070.50. The trial court granted plaintiff partial summary judgment for the amount defendant conceded that it owed on the open account. The issue of whether defendant was contractually obligated to pay attorneys fees was reserved for

trial. Upon trial before the Court, judgment was rendered decreeing that plaintiff's claim for attorneys fees was denied. Plaintiff appealed from the order denying attorneys fees.

In affirming the trial court, this Court, citing the case of B & R Supply Company vs. Bringhurst, stated:

". . . The creation of a contract requires a meeting of the minds of the parties; and the burden of so proving is upon the party who claims there was a contract. This Court observed (in the B & R Supply Company case) that the evidence indicated that the defendant had never authorized any of the persons who signed the invoices to contract on its behalf other than as an open account. This Court stated:

There is no affirmative showing to the contrary, nor that any contractual terms or conditions on the invoice were called to their attention, nor that they were aware of them, nor that they did anything other than to initial the invoices acknowledging the receipt of the merchandise. Under those circumstances we can see no basis for a conclusion that the defendant entered a contract to pay attorney's fees.

This court further observed in footnote 4 at page 1218 of 503 P.2d that if one ordered merchandise, which was agreed to be delivered for a requested price, that would be the extent of both the contract and the purchaser's obligation. If upon receipt of the merchandise, the invoice or delivery slip, the purchaser signed, purported to impose further conditions or covenants, a serious question would arise as to the question of whether there was any consideration for such further obligation.

508 P.2d at 1187, 1188, citing B & R Supply Company vs. Bringhurst, 28 Utah 2d 442, 503 P.2d 1216, 1217 (1972).

Analyzing the facts of the instant case in light of the applicable law, the agreement between Thorn and Johnson was for the purchase of tires for a specified amount. When the tires were delivered to Thorn, additional terms and conditions were imposed, including the payment of interest at 18% per annum and attorneys fees. The fact that an agent of Thorn, Inc., may have acknowledged receipt of the tires does not, under the cases cited above, create a binding obligation on behalf of the buyer to pay interest at 18% per annum or attorneys fees. Johnson, by having stipulated that Byron Hobbs could not bind Thorn to pay attorneys fees, cannot now claim a meeting of the minds on that issue or that §70A-2-207 should be construed to require Thorn to pay attorneys fees. Johnson cites no case authority under Point 1 of its brief specifically construing §70A-2-207 of the Uniform Commercial Code as requiring the purchaser of goods to pay attorneys fees. Research by Thorn's counsel revealed no such case authority.

Thorn, therefore, respectfully submits that the reasoning of the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals in the Bossier case, supra, is sound:

"Had the drafters of the Uniform Commercial Code intended attorneys' fees to be included as incidental damages, they could have easily mentioned them--and no doubt would have, since the exclusion of attorneys' fees is such a well known exception to the general rule of damages." 550 F.2d at 1083.

POINT III

TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT JOHNSON WAS ENTITLED TO INTEREST AT 18% PER ANNUM.

The affidavits in support of both Johnson's and Thorn's Motions for Summary Judgment clearly raise an issue of disputed material fact with respect to whether there was an agreement between Johnson and Thorn that Thorn would be liable for interest at 18% per annum on any overdue balance with Johnson. The affidavit of Dennis D. Weir in support of Thorn's Motion for Summary Judgment, a copy of which (except for signatures and notarization) appears in the Appendix section of this brief, states:

"While affiant (Dennis D. Weir, Executive Vice-President of Thorn) admits that Thorn, Inc., ordered tires from Plaintiff on open account, the extent of the contract between Plaintiff and Defendant was that Defendant would pay a quoted price for the tires but not interest at 18%, costs, or attorneys fees."

The affidavits of Ed and Mike Johnson (R. 18, 19) further state that Jerry Thorn, President of Thorn, Inc., ". . . also objected to the 18% interest rate being charged by us (Johnson)."

It is respectfully submitted that the trial court could not, without an evidentiary hearing, conclude as a matter of fact or law "that the defendant's course of conduct in dealings with the plaintiff established a contractual agreement binding the defendant to pay a monthly financing or service charge (i.e., "interest") of 1.5% per month

where the defendant was regularly sent a monthly statement of its account showing charges for interest and principal, where payments made by the defendant were consistently applied first to current interest and then to principal, and where said interest, when unpaid, was consistently added to principal." (R. 35)

CONCLUSION

Thorn respectfully submits that the legal argument set forth in Johnson's brief is inconsistent with the conclusion reached in every reported opinion wherein the issue of whether attorneys fees are includable as "seller's incidental damages" under §70A-2-710 of the Uniform Commercial Code was raised. Thorn further submits that the trial court, without an evidentiary hearing, erred in deciding as a matter of law that there was a course of dealing between Johnson and Thorn which required Thorn to pay interest at 18% per annum on delinquent unpaid amounts owed to Johnson.